2008

William Judson and Donna Judson, husband and wife v. Wheeler RV Las Vegas, LLC, a Nevada foreign limited liability company, dba Wheeler's Las Vegas RV : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

An appeal may be taken from a district or juvenile court to the appellate court with jurisdiction over the appeal from all final orders and judgments, except as otherwise provided by law. Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 3.

II.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue #1: Did the trial court err in failing to set aside the default judgment against Defendant/Appellant Wheeler RV Las Vegas, LLC, pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(4), due to the judgment being void for want of personal jurisdiction over Defendant/Appellant?

Standard of Review: De novo. Kamdar & Co. v. Laray Co., 1991 UT App LEXIS 102, ¶3, 815 P.2d 245. Franklin Covey Client Sales v. Melvin, 2000 UT App 110, ¶8, 2 P.3d 451.

This issue was preserved in the trial court. See pp. 30-33 of the record.

Issue #2: Did the trial court err in failing to set aside the default judgment against Defendant/Appellant Wheeler RV Las Vegas, LLC, pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(1), due to the judgment being obtained through mistake, inadvertence, surprise, and/or excusable neglect?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion. Salt Lake Hardware Co. v. Neilson Land & Water Co., 1913 Utah LEXIS 80, ¶6, 134 P. 911.

This issue was preserved in the trial court. See pp. 30-33 of the record.

Issue #3: Did the trial court err in failing to set aside the default judgment against Defendant/Appellant Wheeler RV Las Vegas, LLC, as such failure is contrary to Utah's strong policy of adjudicating matters on the merits, as opposed to the default process?

Standard of Review: Abuse of Discretion/Clear Error. Swallow v. Kennard, 2008 UT App 134, ¶19, 183 P.3d 1052.

This issue was preserved in the trial court. See pp. 30-33 of the record.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In or around December 2002, Plaintiffs/Respondents (hereinafter, "Plaintiffs") purchased a Recreational Vehicle (hereinafter, "RV") from Wheelers RV Las Vegas from Defendant/Appellant's (hereinafter, "Defendant") predecessor in interest. (See pg. 2 of the record, ¶ 7.) In or around December 2004, Defendant acquired the assets, but not the liabilities for prior sales, of Wheelers RV Las Vegas. (See pg. 121 of the record, ¶ 3.) In the Fall of 2007, Defendant was served with a Complaint. (See pp. 1-15 of the record.) Plaintiffs allege that the RV sold to them was a "manufacturer's buyback" with a "history of problems". (See pg. 2 of the record, ¶ 7.) Further, Plaintiffs allege that, although they were able to sell the subject RV, following that sale, the subject RV was found to be a "manufacturer's buyback" with a "history of problems", and that Plaintiffs were then obligated to re-purchase the RV, sustaining monetary damages. (See Pg. 3 of the record, ¶¶ 12-16.)

Plaintiffs' counsel, without prior notification to general counsel for Defendant, and *via mail*, dispatched a Notice of Application for Entry of Default on or about November 27, 2007. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 7.) Counsel for Defendant received that document on December 5, 2007. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 8.) By that time, Plaintiffs had already taken a Default Judgment against Defendant. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 10.) On or about February 29, 2008, within the time period set forth by Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60, filed a Motion to Set Aside Default, objecting specifically to personal jurisdiction, and thus, not consenting to jurisdiction. (See pg. 30-33 of the record generally.) The Court had the matter for oral argument in May 2008, and the Court denied the motion in June 2008. (See pp. 68-74, 85-101, and 102-103 of the record generally.)

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Upon receipt of Plaintiffs' Complaint, Defendant provided a copy to its general counsel, Sharon Nelson, in Nevada. (Ex. 3 generally, included in the Addendum to this Brief.) Ms. Nelson began a dialogue with Plaintiffs' counsel, in which numerous issues were raised; namely, that a misjoinder of parties had occurred due to the transfer of the ownership of the dealership in December 2004. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶¶ 4-7.) Based upon this exchange and others, Plaintiffs' counsel granted Defendant an open extension of time in which to file an Answer to the Complaint. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 5.)

Dialog continued between Defendant's general counsel in Nevada and Plaintiffs' counsel in Utah. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶¶ 4-7.) During that time, various documents were provided by Defendant's counsel to Plaintiffs' counsel. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 5.) Each time

documents were provided, Plaintiffs' counsel requested additional documentation. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶¶ 4-7.) Plaintiffs' counsel requested one particular document, the purchase and sale agreement, without redactions pertaining to the financial condition of the parties to the purchase of the Wheelers RV Las Vegas, LLC dealership, despite the fact that the financial condition of the parties was wholly irrelevant. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶¶ 5-6.) In an effort to cooperate with Plaintiffs' counsel, Defendant was willing to provide the document in its entirety if Plaintiffs' counsel would sign a confidentiality agreement to keep the proprietary and private information pertaining to financial condition confidential. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 6.) Plaintiffs' counsel refused to sign the agreement, and continued to insist upon the unredacted document. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 6.)

Plaintiffs' counsel and general counsel for Defendant continued to attempt to work through their concerns via correspondence, mainly via facsimile. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶¶ 4-7.) Plaintiffs' counsel, without prior notification to general counsel for Defendant, and *via mail*, without any phone call or email, dispatched a Notice of Application for Entry of Default on or about November 27, 2007, knowing that the document would be subject to out-of-state mailing during a peak holiday mailing period, and with an intervening weekend. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 7.) Counsel for Defendant did not receive the document until approximately December 5, 2007. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 8.) By that time, Plaintiffs had already taken a Default Judgment against Defendant, despite the fact that Plaintiffs' counsel never notified general counsel for Defendant that the open extension of time in which to answer had been rescinded. (See pg. 38 of the record, ¶ 10.)

On February 29, 2008, within the time period set forth by Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60, Defendant filed a Motion to Set Aside Default, objecting specifically to personal jurisdiction, among other things, and thus, not consenting to jurisdiction. (See pp. 30-33 generally.) The Court had the matter for oral argument in May 2008, and the Court denied the motion in June 2008. (See pp. 68-74, 85-101, and 102-103 of the record generally.)

V.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At the outset of this case, and in every subsequent pleading, Defendant has disputed in personam jurisdiction. By appearing via a 60(b) Motion, Defendant did not submit to the jurisdiction of Utah courts. Defendant's 60(b) Motion was a special appearance because in personam jurisdiction was disputed in first and all subsequent pleadings.

The Trial Court erred in failing to set aside the subject Default Judgment as it had no personal jurisdiction over Defendant to grant the Default Judgment in the first instance. At the time of its ruling on the subject Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, the Trial Court still lacked personal jurisdiction over Defendant. In this regard, Defendant has never availed itself of the laws and benefits of the State of Utah. Further, Defendant has not had sufficient contacts with the State of Utah to warrant personal jurisdiction over it by Utah courts. Still further, Defendant is not the party who sold the RV to Plaintiffs. Defendant was acquired by its current owners approximately two years after the sale of the subject RV. Thus, any wrong committed by the sellers regarding the purchase and sale contract was committed, if at all, by some other person or persons. Thus, Plaintiffs

have sued the wrong party, and have failed to demonstrate a proper basis for personal jurisdiction.

Additionally, the Trial Court erred in failing to set aside the default judgment as the judgment was obtained through mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect. In this regard, sometime in Fall 2007, Plaintiffs' counsel granted Sharon Nelson, Nevada counsel for Defendant, an open-ended extension in which to answer the Complaint. Ms. Nelson understood the phrase "open-ended extension" to mean exactly that. However, Plaintiffs' counsel mailed an Application for Entry of Default against Defendant without first informing Defendant that its extension of time within which to answer was being rescinded. Thus, Defendant's failure to answer the Complaint is excused by mistake, inadvertence, surprise and/or excusable neglect.

Lastly, Utah has a strong policy of adjudicating matters on the merits, as opposed to the default process. Thus, the Trial Court erred when it denied Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT PURSUANT TO UTAH RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 60(b)(4), BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT WAS VOID FOR WANT OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT

At the outset of this case, and in Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, Defendant disputed in personam jurisdiction for the reasons that follow. By appearing via a 60(b) Motion, Defendant has not submitted to the jurisdiction of Utah

courts. Defendant's 60(b) Motion was a special appearance because in personam jurisdiction was disputed in first and all subsequent pleadings. In the Affidavit of Sharon Nelson in Support of Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default, Ms. Nelson indicated that Defendant operates its business in Nevada, while Plaintiffs reside in Utah. (See pg. 39 of the record, ¶ 16.) Further, Defendant does not purposefully avail itself to the benefits and laws of the state of Utah. (See pg. 39 of the record, ¶ 16.) As general counsel for Defendant, Ms. Nelson's affidavit is evidence of the lack of any activities or otherwise that would give rise to personal jurisdiction over Defendant.

On May 15, 2008, the Trial Court heard oral argument on Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. The Motion was brought on the grounds that the Trial Court lacked personal jurisdiction over Defendant, among other grounds. In June 2008, the Trial Court denied the Motion.

Personal jurisdiction over Defendant is lacking under the seminal cases of International Shoe Co. v. Washington (1945) 326 U.S. 310, 316, World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson (1980) 444 U.S. 286, 297, Hanson v. Denckla (1958) 357 U.S. 235, 253, and Burger King v. Rudzewicz (1985) 471 U.S. 462, 478-482 and their progeny. Each of the aforementioned cases support Defendant's position that personal jurisdiction is lacking in this matter due to the lack of purposeful availing and significant contacts with the forum state. In other words, Defendant does not have a sufficient level of personal or business contacts with the State of Utah that it could reasonably expect to be sued there, nor has Defendant purposely availed itself of the resources or protection of the State of Utah. As will be shown below, the Trial Court's assertion of personal jurisdiction over Defendant in this

matter offends traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. See generally, International Shoe Co. v. Washington, *supra*, 326 U.S. 310.

In World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, Defendants World-Wide Volkswagen Corp., a regional distributor for Volkswagen, Inc. in New York, and Seaway Volkswagen, a dealership in New York, asked to be removed from the suit on the grounds that the forum state (Oklahoma) had no personal jurisdiction over them. The Court agreed, stating that because World-Wide and Seaway merely sold the vehicle in which the Plaintiff was injured, and they had done nothing to solicit the business of the out-of-state Plaintiff, the two corporations did not avail themselves of any of the privileges or benefits of Oklahoma law and thus, did not have minimum contacts in Oklahoma.

Here, likewise, Defendant, a limited liability company, was formed in Minnesota, and is operated from a location in Nevada. Defendant was served with the Complaint at its business address in Nevada. Defendant conducts all of its business in the State of Nevada. The purchase and sale of the subject RV occurred in the State of Nevada. Defendant has never operated any retail or wholesale establishment in the State of Utah, nor did it solicit Plaintiffs' business via mail, television, radio, or any other manner in the State of Utah. Thus, as Defendant did not avail itself of the privileges of conducting business in the State of Utah, it does not have the requisite minimum contacts with Utah to give Utah courts personal jurisdiction over it in this matter.

///

Additionally, Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(4) states, in applicable part:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: ... (4) the judgment is void; The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken.

Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(4). A denial of a motion to vacate a judgment under rule 60(b) is ordinarily reversed only for an abuse of discretion. Katz v. Pierce, 1986 UT LEXIS 862, ¶1, 732 P.2d 92; Russell v. Martell, 1984 UT LEXIS 757, ¶1, 681 P.2d 1193; Baker v. Western Sur. Co., 1988 UT App. LEXIS 112, ¶8, 757 P.2d 878. However, when a motion to vacate a judgment is based on a claim of lack of jurisdiction, “the district court has no discretion: if jurisdiction is lacking, the judgment cannot stand without denying due process to the one against whom it runs.” State of Utah Dep’t of Social Services v. Vijil, 1989 UT LEXIS 95, ¶6, 784 P.2d 1130. Here, the Trial Court’s denial of Defendant’s Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment is void due to its lack of personal jurisdiction over Defendant.

In or around December 2002, Plaintiffs purchased the subject RV from Defendant’s predecessor-in-interest. The current owner of Defendant acquired the assets of Defendant, from Defendant’s predecessor-in-interest, in or around December 2004. However, the purchase of those assets did not include the assumption of any liability for previous sales from the prior owners. Because Defendant did not own the subject dealership when Plaintiffs purchased the RV, any alleged wrongdoing by Defendant’s

predecessor-in-interest, including any liability for prior sales, is not attributable to Defendant. Thus, Plaintiff has sued the wrong party.

As the Trial Court's default judgment was rendered without personal jurisdiction over Defendant, it was void. Therefore, the Trial Court's failure to set aside that default judgment was in error.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT PURSUANT TO UTAH RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 60(b)(1), BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT WAS OBTAINED THROUGH MISTAKE, INADVERTANCE, SURPRISE, AND/OR EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE

The Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was brought on the grounds that the default judgment rendered by the Trial Court was obtained through mistake, inadvertence, surprise, and/or excusable neglect, among other grounds. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(1) states, in applicable part:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.... The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken.

Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1). Here, the Trial Court's denial of Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was in error as it was obtained based upon a mistake, surprise, and the excusable neglect of Defendant. Additionally, Defendant filed its Motion within three months after the Default Judgment was entered.

///

Excusable neglect is “the exercise of ‘due diligence’ by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances.” Mini Spas, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n, 1987 Utah LEXIS 643, ¶4, 733 P.2d 130. To demonstrate that a Default Judgment was due to excusable neglect, “[t]he movant must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control.” Black’s Title, Inc. v. Utah State Ins. Dep’t, 1999 UT App 330, ¶10, 991 P.2d 607 (alteration in original) (quoting Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 30 Utah 2d 65, 513 P.2d 429, 431 (1973)). In order to establish excusable neglect, “a party must provide the court with specific details that demonstrate due diligence in spite of uncontrollable circumstances.” Stevens v. LaVerkin City 2008 UT App 129, ¶27, 183 P.3d 1059.

As stated above, upon receipt of the Complaint, Defendant provided a copy to its general counsel in Nevada, Sharon Nelson. Ms. Nelson began a dialogue with Plaintiffs’ counsel in which numerous issues were raised; namely, that a misjoinder of parties had occurred due to the transfer of the dealership in December 2004. Based upon this exchange and others, in Fall 2007, Plaintiffs’ counsel granted Sharon Nelson an open-ended extension in which to answer the Complaint. Ms. Nelson understood the phrase “open-ended extension” to mean that Defendant did not yet have to answer the Complaint until the parties resolved the issue of who should have been sued, or at least, until Plaintiffs’ counsel notified her that the extension of time was no longer “open”.

Dialog continued between Ms. Nelson in Nevada and Plaintiffs’ counsel in Utah. During that time, various documents were provided by Defendant to Plaintiffs. Each time

documents were provided, Plaintiffs' counsel requested additional documentation.

Plaintiffs' counsel requested one particular document, the purchase and sale agreement, without redactions pertaining to the financial condition of the parties to the purchase of the Wheelers RV Las Vegas, LLC dealership, despite the fact that the financial condition of the parties was wholly irrelevant. In an effort to cooperate with Plaintiffs' counsel, Defendant was willing to provide the document in its entirety if Plaintiffs' counsel would sign a confidentiality agreement to keep the proprietary and private information pertaining to financial condition confidential. Plaintiffs' counsel refused to sign the agreement, and continued to insist upon the unredacted document.

Plaintiffs' counsel and Defendant's general counsel continued to attempt to work through their concerns via correspondence, mainly via facsimile. However, on or about November 27, 2007, without prior notification to Defendant's general counsel, and via mail only, Plaintiffs' counsel dispatched a Notice of Application for Entry of Default, knowing that the document would be subject to out-of-state mailing during a peak holiday mailing period, and with an intervening weekend. Defendant's counsel did not receive the document until approximately December 5, 2007. By that time, Plaintiffs had already taken a Default Judgment against Defendant, despite the fact that Plaintiffs' counsel never notified Defendant's general counsel that the open extension of time in which to answer the Complaint had been rescinded.

In Olsen v. Cummings 1977 UT LEXIS 1172, 565 P.2d 1123, the Court was asked to consider whether the trial court erred in denying a Motion to Vacate a default judgment, made under U.R.C.P. 60(b)(1), where the Motion was timely made. The Court

noted that Plaintiffs had granted an open-ended extension to Defendants to answer the complaint. Some time later, defense counsel unilaterally revoked the extension. Shortly thereafter, new defense counsel came into the case, and not knowing of the extension, and assuming prior defense counsel had answered the complaint, failed to file an answer. The Court vacated the default judgment and remanded the case to the trial court stating that “although a trial court is endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying a motion to vacate a final judgment, it cannot act arbitrarily. . . . it is quite uniformly regarded as an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside.” Citations. Olsen v. Cummings, *supra*, 1977 UT LEXIS 1172.

Here, similarly, an open-ended extension of time was granted to Defendant to answer the Complaint. However, in this case, that open extension was never revoked or rescinded. Instead, Plaintiffs’ counsel decided just to send to Defendant a Notice of Application for Entry of Default. Defendant was completely surprised by Plaintiffs’ counsel’s actions. (See pg. 39 of the record, ¶¶ 12-13.) However, Defendant timely filed its Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment on the grounds that its failure to answer the Complaint was excusable, and that the Default Judgment was obtained through surprise, and by the mistake of Defendant in believing that Plaintiffs’ counsel had truly granted it an open extension, as he had said. (See pg. 39 of the record, ¶ 14.)

///

///

Plaintiff should have been estopped from entry of default due to the open extension of time granted to Defendant by Plaintiffs' counsel, and Plaintiffs' counsel's failure to timely advise Defendant, or to advise Defendant at all, of the rescission of his agreement to grant an open extension of time to answer the Complaint.

C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT BECAUSE FAILURE TO DO SO WAS CONTRARY TO UTAH'S STRONG POLICY OF ADJUDICATING MATTERS ON THE MERITS, AS OPPOSED TO THE DEFAULT PROCESS

The Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was brought on the grounds that the Default Judgment rendered by the Trial Court was in error as it was contrary to Utah's clearly-established policy of adjudicating matters on the merits, as opposed to the default process. At least as early as 1909 courts have stated that, although the matter of setting aside defaults is within the discretion of the trial courts, Utah's general rule is to bring about a judgment on the merits. Utah Courts are generally in accord with the doctrine that "the courts should be liberal in granting relief against judgments taken by default to the end that controversies may be tried on the merits." State of Utah v. Musselman, 1983 UT LEXIS 1086, ¶5, 667 P.2d 1053; Quealy v. Willardson, 1909 UT LEXIS 32, ¶11, 100 P. 930 ("In all doubtful cases the general rule of courts is to incline towards granting relief from the default and to bring about a judgment on the merits.").

The Quealy court stated further that, "while courts have a right to require all litigants to come into court and to present their claims and defenses in accordance with the law and rules of procedure, and in case of inexcusable neglect to refuse them a hearing, still these rules should be enforced so as to reflect justice between the parties to

the action and for the purpose of vindicating the law and maintaining the dignity of the court.” Quealy v. Willardson, *supra*, 1909 UT LEXIS 32, ¶¶15, 16. “Judgments by default are not favored by the courts nor are they in the interest of justice and fair play.” Heathman v. Fabian & Clendenin, 1962 UT LEXIS 250, ¶5, 14 Utah 2d 60.

Here, as stated above, Defendant’s failure to answer the complaint was excusable. Thus, even more reason was had to vacate the Default Judgment so as to “reflect justice between the parties” and to “[vindicate] the law and [maintain] the dignity of the court.”

The Trial Court’s failure to set aside the Default Judgment was in error as Defendant’s failure to answer the Complaint was excusable and Utah’s policy of granting relief from a default on such grounds mandated the setting aside of a Default taken under such conditions.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

VII.

CONCLUSION

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