2008

# William Judson and Donna Judson v. Wheeler RV Las Vegas, LLC : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals complied with, and properly applied, Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, in finding that Wheeler failed to seek relief under Rule 60(b)(4) and therefore waived such claim. Wheeler's claim that the default judgment should have been set aside under Rule 60(b) was premised only by subsections (1) and (6) of the rule, and therefore failed to request relief from the district court under Rule 60(b)(4).

Additionally, the Court of Appeals' determination that Wheeler failed to present a meritorious defense was proper, and in conformity with this Court's holding in *Lund v. Brown*, 11 P.3d 277 (Utah 2000). Applying the standards set forth in *Lund*, the Court of Appeals found that the three ambiguous summary statements (regarding personal jurisdiction) which Wheeler

provided in its initial 60(b) motion, failed to raise to the level of a “clear and specific proffer of a defense” as required by *Lund*.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The Court of Appeals’ Application of Rule 60(b)(4) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was Proper.**

Wheeler argues that this Court should ignore the plain language and intent of Wheeler’s initial Rule 60(b) motion, which is clearly premised under subsections (1) and (6) of the rule, and fails to invoke or seek relief under subsection (4) of the same. (*See* Wheeler’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari at p. 1 - 2); ( Wheeler argues that rather than construing Wheeler’s Rule 60(b) motion “according to the subsection that best fits the substantive argument, . . . the Court of Appeals rejected that established approach and instead ruled that Petitioner’s Rule 60(b) motion challenging personal jurisdiction automatically failed for not specifically invoking subsection (4)”). Wheeler cites *State v. 736 North Colorado Street*, 2005 UT 90, 127 P.3d 693, *Chatterton v. Walker*, 938 P.2d 255 (Utah 1997), *Franklin Covey Client Sales, Inc. v. Melvin*, 2000 UT App 110, 2 P.3d 451 and *Saysavanh v. Saysavanh*, 2006 UT App 385, 145 P.3d 1166, as cases requiring that a court consider the merits of jurisdictional challenges even if subsection (4) of Rule 60(b) is not specifically cited in the motion. However, it is clear that the Court of Appeals was cognizant of the requirements of and considered the *736 North Colorado Street*, *Franklin Covey Client Sales, Inc.* and *Saysavanh* cases since such cases are cited by the Court of Appeals in the opinion below. A careful review of the Court of Appeals’ Opinion shows that the Court of Appeals complied with established jurisprudence by considering all of Wheeler’s arguments even though subsection (4) was not specifically cited.

Nowhere in the Court of Appeals opinion does it state that Wheeler waived its jurisdictional challenge merely because it failed to specifically cite to subsection (4) when it sought relief from the trial court. (*See* Court of Appeals Opinion.) Rather, the Court of Appeals found that under the arguments and content of Wheeler’s motion, and the record in the case, Wheeler had failed to seek relief under Rule 60(b)(4) and therefore waived such claims. In making this decision the Court of Appeals was cognizant of, and in fact quoted from, Wheeler’s argument before the trial court that Wheeler “will be able to demonstrate that . . . any assertion of personal jurisdiction over [Wheeler] is highly questionable.” (Court of Appeals Opinion at 2 - 3.) The Court further noted that Wheeler had, in its motion to the trial court, “failed to identify any particular problem with personal jurisdiction.” (Court of Appeals Opinion at 3.) Thus, the Court of Appeals, in accordance with established precedent, reviewed Wheeler’s motion as a whole and found that Wheeler had failed to properly and adequately request relief from the trial court based upon any grounds which would fall under Rule 60(b)(4). Therefore, the Court of Appeals properly found that Wheeler had waived such defenses. (Court of Appeals Opinion at 2, fn. 2.)

The fact that the Court of Appeals reviewed the content of the arguments of Wheeler’s Rule 60(b) motion prior to determining that Wheeler failed to properly assert a claim under subsection (4) is also supported by the Court of Appeals’ treatment of Wheeler’s Rule 60(b)(6) claims. In footnote 1 to the Opinion, the Court noted that Wheeler’s motion cited Rule 60(b)(6) but that “Wheeler’s motion did not specifically identify any such other grounds justifying relief from judgment.”

It is the content of Wheeler's Rule 60(b) motion and the other documents filed by Wheeler that are most telling as to whether Wheeler was seeking relief under subsection (4). Wheeler's claim was that "Wheeler **will be able to demonstrate** that . . . any assertion of jurisdiction over [Wheeler] **is highly questionable**. (Court of Appeals Opinion at 2 – 3), (Emphasis supplied). Furthermore, the "Conclusion" of Wheeler's motion and memorandum did not request that the trial court dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction or find the judgment void due to lack of jurisdiction. In fact, nowhere in Wheeler's motion does it assert that the judgment rendered is void. Instead, Wheeler "requests that the Default Judgment entered against it on or about December 5, 2007 be set aside, due to mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, (sic) and surprise." (R. 32.)

After the hearing, the trial court requested that the parties submit proposed findings and orders. Wheeler did so. (R. 90-92.) Nowhere in Wheeler's proposed findings or order is jurisdiction referenced as a means for the trial court to find that the default judgment was void due to lack of personal jurisdiction. (*See* Add. 1.) It clearly is evident from Wheeler's proposed findings and order that Wheeler did not raise issues before the trial court based upon Rule 60(b)(4). In fact, the sole reference to personal jurisdiction found in Wheeler's proposed findings or order is found in the following statement: "Further, Defendant has provided facts demonstrating that legal and valid defenses exist; namely, lack of personal jurisdiction and misjoinder of parties." (R. 91) (Add. 1.) Thus, the issue of whether the judgment was void under URCP 60(b)(4), was never raised in the trial court, was never briefed by the parties and was never decided by the trial court. Indeed, the trial court's findings, conclusions and order, do not even refer to a jurisdictional claim since Wheeler did not raise the issue of personal jurisdiction

before the trial court as a basis for relief, but wished to set aside the default based upon mistake, inadvertence or excusable neglect in order to raise issues regarding joinder of parties and jurisdiction by way of a Rule 12(b) motion to dismiss. (R. 68-74.)

Based upon the content of Wheeler's Rule 60(b) motion, and proposed findings and order, Wheeler was not intending to contest jurisdiction with its motion. Rather, Wheeler indicated it would be able to show, some time in the future, that jurisdictional issues existed. (R. 31-32.) Wheeler further did not assert a lack of jurisdiction but simply indicated that, based upon what Wheeler may be able to show in the future, jurisdiction would be "highly questionable." (R. 31-32.) Further, and as noted by the Court of Appeals, Wheeler's motion "failed to identify any particular problem with personal jurisdiction." (Court of Appeals Opinion at 3.)

Wheeler's contention that its request to set aside the default judgment under Rule 60(b) for lack of personal jurisdiction was expressed plainly (further arguing that any drafting flaws contained in such request should not wipe out Wheeler's jurisdictional challenge), fails to adequately address the Court of Appeals finding that Wheeler "failed to identify any particular problem with personal jurisdiction." (Court of Appeals Opinion at 3.) If this Court were to accept Wheeler's argument, all that would be required of a party seeking relief from a judgment or order under Rule 60(b) would be that they simply allude to the fact that, or mention somewhere in their motion that, personal jurisdiction may be at issue. To avoid such precedent this Court should find that the Court of Appeals did not err in its treatment of Wheeler's contention that the district court erred in refusing to set aside the default judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4), because Wheeler's conclusory and unsupported statements regarding personal jurisdiction did not constitute a request for relief under Rule 60(b)(4).

## **II. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied Existing Standards in Determining that Wheeler Failed to Adequately Establish a Meritorious Defense.**

Wheeler claims that the Court of Appeals erred by failing to apply this Court's holding in *Lund v. Brown*, 2000 UT 75, 11 P.3d 277, in determining whether Wheeler adequately alleged a meritorious defense in its initial Rule 60(b) motion. "The purpose of the meritorious defense rule is to 'prevent the necessity of judicial review of questions which, on the face of the pleadings, are frivolous.'" *Id.* at ¶28 (citing *Erickson v. Schenkers Int'l Forwaders, Inc.*, 882 P.2d 1147, 1148 (Utah 1994) (quoting *State ex rel. Dep't of Soc. Servs. V. Musselman*, 667 P.2d 1053, 1060 (Utah 1983)). "The rule requires the party seeking to set aside a judgment to 'show' that he or she 'has a meritorious defense to the action.'" *Id.* (citing *Erickson*, 882 P.2d at 1148) (quoting *Musselman*, 667 P.2d at 1055-56) (footnote omitted).

In deciding whether a meritorious defense had been alleged by Wheeler, the Court of Appeals cited *Hernandez v. Baker*, 2004 UT App 462, 104 P.3d 664, which adopted the standards of *Lund*. In fact, the Court of Appeals opinion specifically sets forth the requirements of *Lund* and analyzes Wheeler's motion under such requirements. (See Court of Appeals Opinion.) In *Lund*, the Court's central inquiries were "whether Lund and B&B (1) adequately 'showed' the trial court a (2) proposed defense containing allegations, facts, or claims that, if proven at trial, would preclude total or partial recovery by the Browns." *Id.* at 28. The Court in *Lund* went on to explain what a party must do to "show" a meritorious defense. "[W]e have made it clear that a party need not actually prove its proposed defenses to meet this standard." *Id.* at 29. The Court then articulated the policy underlying the meritorious defense rule. "That policy is simply to prevent the necessity of treating defenses that are frivolous on their face.

Thus, where a party presents a clear and specific proffer of a defense that, if proven, would preclude total or partial recovery by the claimant or counterclaimant, it has adequately shown a nonfrivolous and meritorious defense...” *Id.* at 29.

Wheeler seems to assert that by simply stating in its initial Rule 60(b) motion that “[t]he evidence will show that Plaintiffs have sued the wrong party” and that “Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate a proper basis for personal jurisdiction” (R. 31, 32), they have met the standard this Court set forth in *Lund*. In fact Wheeler states “*Erickson* and *Lund* require nothing more.” (Appellant’s Brief at 18.) Wheeler also contends that the Court of Appeals “denied Wheeler relief because it ‘failed to identify’ particular facts supporting its defenses.” (Appellant’s Brief at 18.) However, contrary to Wheeler’s assertions, nowhere in the two paragraphs of the Court of Appeals Opinion which address Wheeler’s failure to present a meritorious defense does it refer to Wheeler’s failure to identify facts as fatal to Wheeler’s motion. The Court of Appeals found that Wheeler failed to provide a “clear and specific proffer of a defense” as required by *Lund*. (Court of Appeals Opinion at 3.) In so deciding, the Court of Appeals referred to the three summary statements that Wheeler provided in its motion, that the plaintiffs had sued the wrong party, that Wheeler did not own the dealership when the plaintiffs purchased their RV and that Wheeler, in the future, could demonstrate that personal jurisdiction was highly questionable. (Court of Appeals Opinion at 3) The Court of Appeals determined that these ambiguous summary statements did not raise to the level of a “clear and specific proffer of a defense” under the circumstances. In doing so, the Court of Appeals did not deviate from *Lund*, but rather applied *Lund* to this case.



Wheeler seems to assert that ambiguous summary allegations are sufficient to establish a “clear and specific proffer of a defense.” Under Wheeler’s argument, a meritorious defense would exist simply by stating: “jurisdiction is lacking.” Such is not a clear and specific proffer under the parameters of *Lund* as incorporated into the Court of Appeals’ Opinion. Furthermore, such an assertion would be in direct conflict with this Court’s clearly articulated fundamental policy underlying the meritorious defense rule. “That policy is simply to prevent the necessity of treating defenses that are frivolous on their face.” *Lund v. Brown*, 2000 UT 75, ¶ 29, 11 P.3d 277. Under the circumstances, Wheeler failed to make a clear and specific proffer of a meritorious defense when it chose to rely only on the above referenced summary assertions of **potential** defenses. Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the district court’s denial of Wheeler’s motion to set aside the default judgment based on the determination that Wheeler failed to “present a clear and specific proffer” of a meritorious defense.

### **III. Judsons Should be Awarded their Costs and Attorney Fees on Appeal.**